
 1 

Solid Waste Board Minutes 
Park County, Montana 

October 4, 2012 
 
 
Attendance: Solid Waste Board (SWB) members Allen Carter, Robert Currie, Dennis 
Dodge, John Kaiser and Ernie MacCracken.  Also present were Commissioner Taylor; 
Barbara Woodbury, environmental health; Warren Newhouse II, refuse; Raea Morris, 
administrative assistant; Kevin Larkin, treasurer; Brett Linneweber, county attorney; Tom 
Totland and Allan Lutes, PCSO; and John Mueller, minutes clerk 
 
Call to Order: @1:04:17 p.m., Chairman Dennis Dodge called a meeting to order in the 
Commission Chambers of the City/County Complex. 
 
Review of Minutes:  The board reviewed minutes for the September 14 and 21, 2012, 
meetings.  Reviewing minutes for September 14, John Kaiser noted a revision to Page 2, 
noting the term “convicted” should be replaced with “evicted.”  John Kaiser moved to 
approve the minutes for September 14.  Robert Currie seconded the motion.  Motion 
passed.  
 
Reviewing meeting minutes for the September 21 meeting, Allen Carter moved to 
approve the September 21 minutes.  John Kaiser seconded the motion.  Motion passed.  
 
David Leverett of Four Corners Recycling provided a recycling services proposal with 
costs for sites at Wilsall, Clyde Park, Emigrant and Gardiner as decided on by a SWB 
subcommittee and Warren Newhouse, interim refuse manager.  Leverett said it would 
cost $15,000 to purchase five-yard bins and $16,000 for eight-yard bins.  He said he can 
order the bins to arrive within two weeks.  Commissioner Malone said he thinks 
businesses should request recycling bins on their own accord if they want to recycle. 
 
Treasurer Kevin Larkin said many citizens have asked if the county could split the annual 
refuse assessment between the first and second tax payments, instead of assessing it all 
on the first-half bill.  The board said that issue should be discussed by county finance 
individuals, but it does not see an issue to split the payments if permissible. 
 
Invite PCSO and County Attorney’s Office to Discuss Illegal Dumping at Green Box 
Sites:  Lieutenant Tom Totland said he has instructed his deputies to write up green box 
site violators, and a deputy recently saw two out of county cars leave green box sites 
upon seeing his patrol car.  Totland provided a littering ordinance the sheriff’s office can 
use to enforce illegal dumping, but he said having hours on green box sites would help 
deputies with illegal dumping.  Bob Currie asked if illegal dumpers can be sent an official 
letter saying they were observed dumping illegally and asked how illegal dumping can be 
stopped.  Totland said surveillance cameras may be an option.    
 



 2 

County Attorney Brett Linneweber said prosecuting illegal dumpers is a matter of proof 
with no chance of mistaken identity.  He said he would prosecute illegal dumpers if proof 
was solid. 
 
Refuse Manager Report:  Newhouse said he spoke with citizen Sam Dorr about illegal 
use of county green boxes at the fairgrounds in attempt to curb that use.  He said the 
Forest Service green box site is experiencing no bear issues or illegal dumping since 
hours were established and gates locked at night.  Newhouse said the refuse department 
gets many calls about recycling, which shows people’s interest in having more recycling 
options.   
 
Commissioner Taylor said the county has paid for the first three 40-yard green boxes it 
purchased. 
 
Solid Waste Conference Presentation:  Barbara Woodbury, environmental health, 
provided a summary report of a solid waste conference she attended that was in large part 
about recycling.  Woodbury said she will continue to support computer/e-waste recycling 
events in Park County, particularly because of the dangers metals and materials within 
them can pose if not properly disposed of. 
 
Woodbury said she recently rode along with driver Mike from the refuse department.  
She said she rode the route to Fleshman Creek, Forest Service and fairgrounds to dump 
refuse.  She said she also rode with Wayne to pick up the Chico boxes.  She said the truck 
the board viewed the previous day looks much easier to operate than the department’s 
current trucks, but picking up roll off boxes does take drivers a lot of time and the board 
needs to know the new proposed trucks and pups will take more time to use.  Woodbury 
said Newhouse showed her the operation of loading the refuse bottles onto the rail cars, 
as well. 
 
Woodbury distributed comments she received from the drivers as she was riding with 
them for board review.  She said she recommends the board members ride along with the 
refuse drivers to see what they experience and deal with on a daily basis, as they are the 
workers on the ground.   
 
Taylor asked Woodbury if she would draft a letter to be submitted to citizens who dump 
illegally.  Dodge said the board was submitting such letters and fines, but was told that 
was not legal, so it stopped. 
 
Discussion/Decision on County/City Flier Defining Basic Operation Information for 
Transfer Station and County Refuse Sites:  Currie presented a city/county refuse system 
pamphlet designed to explain uniform operations and fees for city and county users of the 
city refuse system.  He said the draft document was created by the city’s assistant director 
of operations, and the pamphlet needs to be mailed out to residents at the time county 
refuse tags are mailed.  
 



 3 

Review of Recommendation/Specifications for Truck and Pup for New Roll Off Boxes:  
The board had a meeting scheduled with a truck and pup vendor in the upcoming week. 
 
Contract Status Update with City:  Taylor said the Commission that morning gave 
Envirocon 60-day’s notice to terminate the county’s refuse services contract.  Taylor said 
he will meet with City Manager Ed Meece to discuss the language the county wants to 
see in the city/county refuse contract, which is “$53 per ton locked in for five years with 
no escalation clause.”  
 
Discussion of Pine Creek Fire Refuse Assistance:  Newhouse said the site and its 
operations are going fine.  Commission said it will remain open into the next week as 
long as citizens need it.  
 
Review of Startup Activities for Chico (Boxes, Signage, Safety Attendants, Hours, 
Equipment, Operations):  Malone said he told the contractor to get started on the plan to 
revamp the site.  Allen Carter said he thinks equipment may be moved on site the 
upcoming weekend.   
 
Currie said he will consolidate board member comments and get final refuse signs 
ordered. 
 
There was discussion about how contractor Chad Standish would handle brush disposal.  
Currie said Standish is willing to take clean brush and wood to his fill site, but he will not 
burn at that site.  He said Standish is overly willing to work with the county and provide a 
site for county equipment to operate there.   
 
There was discussion about liability to the county if its waste is disposed of in an 
unauthorized landfill.  There was discussion about disposing of wood brush at green box 
sites in order to keep it out of the waste stream and per ton dump volume.   
 
Carter said he tested the hydraulics in the newly-purchased green box site backhoe and 
they are strong.  Currie said Newhouse may want to take the backhoe straight to Chico 
for training as the county is maybe only three weeks out from operation. 
 
Currie said the county needs an attendant at the Chico site seven days a week for an 
established period of hours, as already decided on by the SWB, and the start up plan 
should go concurrently with construction of the new site. 
 
Other Discussion Items: None 
 
Next Meeting Date:  October 19 at 1:00 p.m.  
 
Public Comment:  None   
 
Adjourn: @3:34:10 p.m., the meeting adjourned.   
 
 


